DO NOTE VE

FILE COPY

DO NOT REMOVE EROM FILE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

of 55 30

Docket No. 19-0398

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF KANAWHA COUNTY

THE SANITARY BOARD OF THE CITY OF CHARLESTON, WEST VIRGINIA, Defendant Below, Petitioner

v.

J.F. ALLEN CORPORATION, a West Virginia corporation, *Plaintiff Below, Respondent.*

PETITIONER THE SANITARY BOARD OF THE CITY OF CHARLESTON, WEST VIRGINIA'S BRIEF

David Allen Barnette (W. Va. Bar No. 242)
Counsel of Record
Vivian H. Basdekis (W. Va. Bar No. 10587)
Chelsea A. Creta (W.Va. Bar No. 13187)
JACKSON KELLY, PLLC
500 Lee Street East, Suite 1600
Charleston, West Virginia 25301-3202
Tel: (304) 340-1000

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The Circuit Court erred in denying CSB's motion for judgment as a matter of law and renewed motion for judgment as a matter of law because the undisputed evidence at trial clearly established that J.F. Allen failed to prove a *prima facie* case for breach of contract against CSB for at least two reasons: (i) J.F. Allen failed to identify any contractual duty on the part of CSB relating to Underground Facilities that was breached, and (ii) J.F. Allen failed to show it complied with the contract terms with respect to any Claim alleged, and it is undisputed that the contractual procedures for filing and preserving any Claim were neither waived nor modified.
- B. The Circuit Court erred in admitting into evidence the expert report prepared by J.F. Allen's expert witness, Bryon Willoughby, which report was, in fact, considered by the jury resulting in substantial error.
- C. The Circuit Court erred in allowing J.F. Allen to proffer expert testimony from Charles Dutill, who admitted he lacked the relevant expertise or experience and who is not a licensed engineer in the State of West Virginia, resulting in confusion of the issues, misleading the jury, and unfair prejudice to CSB.
- D. The Circuit Court erred in entering judgment based on the jury's inconsistent and invalid verdict.

l

E. The Circuit Court erred in ordering a new trial on damages only, where the jury's fundamental and pervasive confusion impacted both its assessment of damages and liability.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For the convenience of the Court, a summary of the facts contained in the Circuit Court record is reproduced with citations to the Joint Appendix, as follows:

A. The Construction Agreement.

This appeal arises from a dispute involving a sanitary sewer replacement project, for work generally described as "Kanawha Two-Mile Creek Sewer Improvements—Sewer Replacements Sugar Creek Drive Sub-Area, Contract 10-8" (the "Project"). (JA 3363.) On or about December 13, 2011, J.F. Allen Corporation ("J.F. Allen"), as Contractor, entered into a standard construction contract with CSB, as Owner ("Agreement"). Burgess & Niple, Inc. ("B&N") provided professional services to CSB and was designated as the Engineer/Architect on the Project. (JA 3475.) The original contract price under the Agreement totaled \$5,160,621.75, "subject to additions and deductions by Change Order and quantities actually performed." (JA 3476, ¶4.) A total of six Change Orders and quantity adjustments increased the Contract Price in the amount of \$394,977, for a final adjusted contract amount of \$5,555,598. (JA 1388-1407.)

In entering into the Agreement, J.F. Allen, a seasoned contractor, agreed to the precise procedures and timeliness requirements for submitting claims within the life of the contract. For its work, J.F. Allen received from CSB full payment of the original contract amount, plus the cost of all properly submitted Change Orders and quantity adjustments, for a final adjusted contract amount of \$5,555,598. Under the plain terms of the contract, J. F. Allen is entitled to no more.

¹ Capitalized terms not otherwise defined here have the same meaning as those terms are defined in the parties' Agreement.

Construction began on or about January 9, 2012. The Agreement required Substantial Completion by January 2, 2013 and required Final Completion by February 1, 2013. Actual Final Completion of the Project occurred on August 15, 2013. Thereafter, J.F. Allen submitted its request for Final Payment on or about November 4, 2013, and CSB issued Final Payment to J.F. Allen on or about November 20, 2013. The one-year correction period under the Agreement expired on June 19, 2014. (JA 1388-1407.) However, on June 30, 2014, J.F. Allen filed its original Complaint seeking—for the first time—an "equitable adjustment" of the Contract Price, a Claim never before made (or preserved) pursuant to the Agreement.

B. J.F. Allen Assumed Liability with Respect to the Underground Facilities.

As between CSB and J.F. Allen, the unambiguous terms of the parties' Agreement itself establish that J.F. Allen, not CSB, bore the risk of any of difficulties that might arise from unforeseen locations of Underground Facilities.² Even prior to being awarded the Project, J.F. Allen received specific instructions concerning Underground Facilities. Paragraph 4.5 of the "Instructions to Bidders," which is incorporated in the Agreement, provides as follows:

Before submitting a Bid, each BIDDER will be responsible to obtain such additional or supplementary examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, and data concerning conditions (surface, subsurface, and Underground Facilities) at or contiguous to the site or otherwise, which may affect cost, progress, performance, or furnishing of the Work or which relate to any aspect of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction to be employed by BIDDER and safety precautions and programs incident thereto or which BIDDER deems necessary to determine its Bid for performing and furnishing the Work in accordance with the time, price, and other terms and conditions of the Contract Documents.

 $(JA 3376 \, \P \, 4.5.)^3$ In other words, the costs were to be included in the contract bid.

² The "General Conditions" define "Underground Facilities" in part as "[a]ll underground pipelines, conduits, ducts, cables, wires, manholes, vaults, tanks, tunnels, or other such facilities" (JA 3528.)

³ Article 8 of the Agreement defines "Contract Documents," to include Bidding Requirements including Advertisement, Bids and Instructions to BIDDERS, Supplementary Instructions, General Conditions, and Supplementary Conditions. (JA 3479.)

The "General Notes" expressly provide, in no less than four separate provisions that it was J.F. Allen's sole responsibility to locate underground utilities and structures, to provide advance notice to utilities, and if damage occurs, to repair and restore the damaged service lines, the cost of all of which will be considered as having been included in the Contract Price. (JA 0042 ¶ 2, 4-6.) Additionally, J.F Allen, under the contract, represented that:

CONTRACTOR acknowledges that OWNER and ENGINEER/ARCHITECT do not assume responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of information and data shown or indicated in the Contract Documents with respect to Underground Facilities

(JA 3478 ¶ 7.4 (capitalization in original).)

Sections 4.04 of the "General Conditions," as amended in the "Supplemental Conditions," defines J.F. Allen's responsibilities with respect to Underground Facilities, whether shown or not shown on the Contract Documents, as follows:

4.04 Underground Facilities

- A. Shown or Indicated: The information and data shown or indicated in the Contract Documents with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the Site is based on information and data furnished to Owner or Engineer by the owners of such Underground Facilities, including Owner, or by others. Unless it is otherwise expressly provided in the Supplementary Conditions:
- 1. Owner and Engineer shall not be responsible for the accuracy or completeness of any such information and data provided by others; and
- 2. the cost of all of the following will be included in the Contract Price, and Contractor shall have full responsibility for:
 - a. reviewing and checking all such information and data;
 - b. locating all Underground Facilities shown or indicated in the Contract Documents;
 - c. coordination of the Work with the owners of such Underground Facilities, including Owner, during construction; and
 - d. the safety and protection of all such Underground Facilities and repairing any damage thereto resulting from the Work.
- 3. Location of Subsurface Utilities.⁴
 - a. The location of subsurface utilities is shown on the plans form information furnished by the utility owners.

⁴ Section 4.04 of the "Supplemental Conditions" adds ¶¶ 4.04.A.3 through 4.04.A7, immediately after ¶ 4.04.A.2 contained in the "General Conditions." (JA 3592-93.)

- d. The CONTRACTOR shall have full responsibility for coordination of the work with owners of such underground facilities during construction, for the safety and protection thereof as provided in paragraph 6.13 and repairing any damage thereto resulting from the work, the cost of all of which will be considered as having been included in the Contract Price.
- B. Not Shown or Indicated:
- 1. If an Underground Facility is uncovered or revealed at or contiguous to the Site which was not shown or indicated, or not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing conditions affected thereby or performing any Work in connection therewith (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 6.16.A), identify the owner of such Underground Facility and give written notice to that owner and to Owner and Engineer. Engineer will promptly review the Underground Facility and determine the extent, if any, to which a change is required in the Contract Documents to reflect and document the consequences of the existence or location of the Underground Facility. During such time, Contractor shall be responsible for the safety and protection of such Underground Facility.
- 2. If Engineer concludes that a change in the Contract Documents is required, a Work Change Directive or a Change Order will be issued to reflect and document such consequences. An equitable adjustment shall be made in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, to the extent that they are attributable to the existence or location of any Underground Facility that was not shown or indicated or not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy in the Contract Documents and that Contractor did not know of and could not reasonably have been expected to be aware of or to have anticipated. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any such adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, Owner or Contractor may make a Claim therefor as provided in [¶] 10.05.

(JA 3537-38; JA 3592 (emphasis added).)

C. The Agreement Established the Procedure for Payments and Submission of Claims.

Article 12.03 of the General Conditions provides several provisions governing delays and equitable adjustments, which bar the recovery of damages for delay under certain circumstances. (JA 3571-72 § 12.03(C), § 12.03(E) ("Such an adjustment shall be Contractor's sole and exclusive remedy for the delays described in this Paragraph 12.03.C") ("Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for delays within the control of Contractor") (emphasis added).)

The contract provides that "[n]o Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price . . . will be valid if not submitted in accordance with [the Claims procedure of] this Paragraph 10.05." (JA 3565-66 ¶ 10.05(A)-(F); JA 3570 ¶ 12.01(A). The agreed-upon protocols for all Change Orders, progress and final payments, as well as the procedures for filing, reviewing, and ruling on any Claim are established by Article 10.05 of the contract, as follows:

- A. Engineer's Decision Required: All Claims, except those waived pursuant to Paragraph 14.09, shall be referred to the Engineer for decision. A decision by Engineer shall be required as a condition precedent to any exercise by Owner or Contractor of any rights or remedies either may otherwise have under the Contract Documents or by Laws and Regulations in respect of such Claims.
- B. Notice: Written notice stating the general nature of each Claim shall be delivered by the claimant to Engineer and the other party to the Contract promptly (but in no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event giving rise thereto. The responsibility to substantiate a Claim shall rest with the party making the Claim. Notice of the amount or extent of the Claim, with supporting data shall be delivered to the Engineer and the other party to the Contract within 60 days after the start of such event (unless Engineer allows additional time for claimant to submit additional or more accurate data in support of such Claim). A Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price shall be prepared in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 12.01.B....
- C. Engineer's Action: Engineer will review each Claim and, within 30 days after receipt of the last submittal of the claimant or the last submittal of the opposing party, if any, take one of the following actions in writing:
 - 1. deny the Claim in whole or in part;
 - 2. approve the Claim; or
 - 3. notify the parties that the Engineer is unable to resolve the Claim if, in the Engineer's sole discretion, it would be inappropriate for the Engineer to do so. For purposes of further resolution of the Claim, such notice shall be deemed a denial.
- D. In the event that Engineer does not take action on a Claim within 30 days, the Claim shall be deemed denied.
- E. Engineer's written action under Paragraph 10.05.C or denial pursuant to 10.05.C.3 or 10.05.D will be final and binding upon Owner and Contractor, unless Owner or Contractor invoke the dispute resolution procedure set forth in Article 16 within 30 days of such action or denial.
- F. No Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times will be valid if not submitted in accordance with this Paragraph 10.05. (JA 3565-66 ¶ 10 (emphasis added).)

In particular, to comply with Paragraph 10.05, J.F. Allen was required, in part, to provide written notice of its Claim no later than thirty days after the start of the event giving rise to the Claim and to allow for B&N to render its decision. (JA 3565 ¶ 10.05.) The contract provides that Claims not timely asserted within the life of the contract are time-barred under Article 14.07. (JA 3581.) Significantly, "[t]he making and acceptance of final payment will constitute . . . a waiver of all Claims by Contractor against Owner other than those previously made in accordance with the requirements herein and expressly acknowledged by Owner in writing as still unsettled." (JA 3582 ¶ 14.09.)

D. Six Months After the Contract Expired, J.F. Allen Submitted, for the First Time, a Request for "Equitable Adjustment."

On November 4, 2013, J.F. Allen submitted its request for Final Payment pursuant to the contract. (JA 4253; JA 4683.) On November 5, 2013, B&N submitted its written recommendation to CSB for Final Payment to J.F. Allen. (JA 4673.) On November 20, 2013, CSB issued Final Payment, check no. 2068, in the amount of \$146,320.43 to J.F. Allen. (JA 4681.) J.F. Allen retained in its possession but never cashed the check. (JA 1878.)

On May 7, 2014, approximately *six months* after J.F. Allen's request for Final Payment and B&N's recommendation for Final Payment had been made, J.F. Allen submitted a request to B&N for "Equitable Adjustment" under the contract. (JA 4083-4108.) On May 12, 2014, B&N returned J.F. Allen's request, noting that B&N "is no longer authorized to provide professional services for this project." (JA 4507.)

E. Litigation, Jury Trial and Verdicts, and Post-Trial Proceedings.

On June 30, 2014, J.F. Allen filed this civil action and subsequently amended its Complaint on November 13, 2014. (JA 0008-14; JA 0001.) The case was tried from January 22, 2018 to January 31, 2018 before a jury. (JA 1432-3345.) At trial, J.F. Allen presented two

distinct legal theories (breach of contract against CSB and negligence against B&N) for the possible recovery of a single injury. During closing argument at trial, J.F. Allen's counsel informed the jury and the Court that J.F. Allen sought a single recovery of \$1,252,392.43 against both Defendants:

MR. JOHNSTONE: If you answer questions 1 and 2 yes, please assess damages... The damages are the same that we assert against both of these entities. Okay. So of this amount, you've got to decide how much you want to put against the sanitary board and what you want to put against Burgess and Niple.

(JA 3297-98.)

During deliberations, the jury submitted handwritten notes to the Circuit Court, which shed light on the jury's general state of confusion, and the Court submitted several clarifying instructions to aid the jury. (JA 1179-85.) For example, the jury foreperson sent the Circuit Court a note questioning how and on what basis to assess the breach of contract damages against CSB: "Do we assess the dollar amount for Question 3 on Part II? And, if yes, on what basis?" (JA 1180; JA 3315-16.)⁵ The jury, twenty-five minutes later, then followed up with a note regarding the same question. Pointing to Part II, Question 3 of the verdict form, which instructed that "If the answer to question 1 and 2 are YES, please assess the breach of contract damages, if any, in dollars and cents below," the jury asked the Court, "What is this amount based on?" (JA 1183; JA 3318-19.) The jury also sent a note to the Court asking what amount it was supposed to assess for damages against Defendant B&N, "or do we come up with the \$ amount?" (JA 1185; JA 3334-37.)

When the jury returned after its first round of deliberations, the Circuit Court read aloud the jury's verdict, which found \$1,300,000.20 against CSB (for breach of contract) and found

⁵ The trial transcript was made available on or about May 22, 2018. However, the transcript for Day 8 of trial provided to counsel was missing certain portions related to the jury's deliberation. The missing portions were transcribed and provided to counsel on August 20, 2018. For clarity, any references to the supplemented portion will be clarified with a reference to JA 3313-45.

B&N 90% negligent and J.F. Allen 10% negligent. (JA 3323-36.) Upon the jury returning after its first round of deliberations, the Jury Foreperson stated to the Court, believing that the jury had a valid verdict, "we got it right, this time," even though the verdict form was incomplete in that the jury had left the damages portion against B&N blank. (JA 3323-36.) After reading the incomplete verdict form aloud, the Circuit Court directed the jury to "return to the jury room" to permit the Court to "address some issues with counsel." (JA 3323-36.)

The Circuit Court then informed counsel that the jury left the verdict form blank as to damages against B&N after finding B&N 90% negligent and J.F. Allen 10% negligent, noting that the jury "got that they [were] supposed to give one recovery but may not have apportioned it among the defendants" and determined that what the Court needed to do was to "flesh out if it [was] their intent to assess the entire, [1.3] million dollars, to the Sanitary Board, but by virtue of the fact they have found negligence in the amount of [90%] as to [B&N], if they had intended to apportion and percentage of that to them." (JA 3323-36.) J.F. Allen's counsel agreed with the Court's concern: "Yes, your Honor. Did they intend for that to be [0] damages or was it their intention that the [1.3] million be split between the defendants." (JA 3323-36.)

The Circuit Court brought the jury back into the courtroom and polled each juror and each juror agreed that the incomplete verdict was his or her verdict. The Circuit Court then instructed the jury to go back into the jury room and focus on the blank portion of the verdict form as to whether it was their intent to award zero damages against B&N. (JA 3323-36.) After the second attempt at deliberation, the Jury Foreperson stated, referring to the current verdict at issue, "we did get it right, this time;" however, the jury filled in the blank with a damages award against B&N in the amount of \$3,000,000.20. (JA 3336-43.)

Even though the maximum recovery J.F. Allen sought for its alleged injury was \$1,252,392.43, the jury awarded a total verdict of \$4,300,000.40, including \$1,300,000.20 against CSB (for breach of contract) and \$3,000,000.20 against B&N (for negligence). The jury also apportioned ten percent (10%) comparative fault to J.F. Allen on its negligence claim, resulting in damages against B&N in the amount of \$2,700,000. (JA 3336-43; JA 1124-28.) After polling the jury again and then excusing the jury, the Circuit Court expressed its concern with the verdict and present sense impression as follows:

THE COURT: I'm going to suggest strongly that I have concerns that the verdict that we had could be problematic. It may not be based on law, reason or judgment. I am going to strongly suggest that you all talk. When I say talk, I mean try to get some resolution in this case. . . .I suggest that you talk over the weekend and avail yourself the opportunity to do that. I certainly suggest this. Thank you. (JA 3342-43.)

Judgment was subsequently entered on March 1, 2018. (JA 1129-35.) On March 14, 2018, CSB filed its *Renewed Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law*, or, alternatively, *Motion for New Trial Pursuant to Rules 49 and 59 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure*. (JA 1151-212.) On March 20, 2019, the Circuit Court issued its *Order Granting Defendants a New Trial on Damages and Denying Defendants' Motions for Renewed Judgments as a Matter of Law*, wherein it ordered that the matter be retried as to damages only, but recognizing that as a practical matter the entire case would essentially be retried. (JA 1388-1407; JA 1403 ¶ 63.)

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

For each of the following reasons, the judgment as entered is in error necessitating review:

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