### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

A. i. Throughout the more than five-year pendency on this matter The Sanitary Board has repeatedly argued that J.F. Allen's claims were barred, or that The Sanitary Board was insulated from liability by, the terms of the contract between the parties. These arguments were repeatedly and consistently rejected by the Trial Court, and by the Supreme Court of Appeals upon prior appeal, noting that the contract contains an express provision providing for the adjustment of the contract amount when the contractor encounters mismarked or unmarked existing underground facilities. J.F. Allen proved at trial that it encountered large numbers of mismarked and unmarked existing underground utilities, that it incurred substantial additional costs as a result, that the Sanitary Board, through its project representatives, had adequate notice of these matters but failed to compensate J.F. Allen for its additional costs.

ii. Further, it is not undisputed, as argued by The Sanitary Board, that contractual procedures for filing and preserving claims were not waived or modified. J.F. Allen presented more than sufficient evidence at trial of waiver of the contract protocols for submission of change orders and claims, actual notice by The Sanitary Board and its project representatives, and subsequent oral modifications of the contract, to support the jury's conclusion that The Sanitary Board waived its right to rely on strict adherence to the change order and claims provisions of the Contract or had adequate notice of claims.

B. Admission of J.F. Allen's request for equitable adjustment into evidence did not constitute abuse of the Trial Court's discretion as it was J.F. Allen's claim document submitted, as anticipated by the parties, after the completion of work. This document constitutes a business

record prepared and submitted in the ordinary course of business to support J.F. Allen's claim for an adjustment of the contract amount.

C. Notwithstanding the argument of The Sanitary Board, J.F. Allen's expert witness, Charles Dutill was more than adequately qualified to give opinion testimony concerning the standard of care owed by a project engineer to a contractor in the performance of its duties on a utility construction project. Mr. Dutill is an experienced engineer licensed by the state of Pennsylvania and is not required to be registered by the state of West Virginia in order to give testimony at a trial. The qualifications of an expert witness to testify are set out in the Rules of Evidence at Rule 702 which contains no requirement that an engineer offered to give testimony be registered in the state of West Virginia. Further, as there was no contract between J.F. Allen and the Project Engineer, Burgess & Niple, its duties are established by the common law, a matter within Mr. Dutill's experience and expertise. As such, the Trial Court's qualification of Mr. Dutill to offer opinion testimony as an expert witness was not an abuse of discretion.

D. The verdict rendered by the jury in this case was not "inconsistent". Justice Cleckley defined "inconsistency" in a jury verdict as where there is no rational, non-speculative way to reconcile two essential jury findings. See, *Cleckley Litigation Handbook on West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure*, 1173 (5<sup>th</sup> Ed. 2017). An example of this would be where the jury returns a verdict in favor of both the Plaintiff and Defendant, or where the jury finds no liability on the part of the Defendant but still awards damages to the Plaintiff. In such cases, an inconsistency should be resolved or a new trial awarded, prior to the entry of judgment. In this case there is no inconsistency in the jury's findings and, therefore, judgment was entered upon the jury's verdicts. Although it is true that the jury asked questions during deliberation and was returned for further deliberation to resolve an inconsistency when the space for assessment of damages against Burgess & Niple for the negligence was initially left blank, there is no indication of any impropriety in the verdicts ultimately rendered by the jury in this case. In fact, it would be necessary to engage in speculation to reach the conclusion that the jury did not intend two separate verdicts and awards.



J.F. Allen's claims against the two Defendants in this case are based on separate causes of action and the remedy for each is not dependent on the other. J.F. Allen's remedy for Burgess & Niple's negligence is not limited to or dependent on the damages recoverable under J.F. Allen's contract with The Sanitary Board. The fact that the jury returned awards against both Defendants in this case is neither inappropriate nor should it have been unexpected. The jury verdict form submitted to the jury contained two separate spaces for the express purpose of allowing the jury to make the award as to each Defendant that it found to be appropriate. As such, the Trial Court correctly refused to vacate the Jury's verdict on liability and in fact, should have upheld the verdict against The Sanitary Board in its entirety.

E. The Trial Court did not err in failing to order a new trial on liability. The verdict of the jury was clear as to liability. There was no question or confusion expressed by the jury in finding that The Sanitary Board breached its contract with J.F. Allen and the Trial Court was correct in refusing to disturb its finding on that point. In addition, the jury returned a verdict awarding damages against The Sanitary Board and in favor of J. F. Allen in an amount approximating the contract damages asserted by J.F. Allen in its claim and at trial. The only question requiring further deliberation was the amount of damages to be awarded for Burgess & Niples's negligence. The jury found The Sanitary Board to have breached its contract with J.F. Allen and awarded a sum approximating the amount claimed by J.F. Allen as its contract damages, an amount not susceptible to apportionment. The fact that the jury rendered a separate award against Burgess & Niple does not, in any way, affect its findings as to The Sanitary Board.

#### **STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION**

The Respondent believes that oral argument is necessary under the criteria of Rule 18 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure and that the Court would benefit from oral argument in this case. The Respondent asserts that the case is suitable for a Rule 19 argument as a case involving assignments of error in the application of settled law. The Respondent further asserts that, as the Order appealed from involved error in the application of well settled, existing law, the matter is appropriate for a memorandum decision.

## ARGUMENT

### **A. 1. THE LANGUAGE OF THE CONTRACT ENTITLES J.F. ALLEN TO RECOVER LOSSES INCURRED WHEN IT ENCOUNTERS UNDERGROUND FACILITIES “NOT SHOWN OR INDICATED” ON THE PLANS.**

The Sanitary Board continues to argue that its contract with J.F. Allen places all of the risk of loss relating to existing underground facilities on the contractor and that this bars J.F. Allen’s claims for extra work, additional costs, and lost efficiency related to the huge number of unmarked or mismarked underground utilities encountered on this project. First, the testimony reflects that the number of obstructions encountered on this project was far beyond what could have been contemplated by a reasonable contractor preparing a bid for the contract.<sup>4</sup> More importantly, however, the contract expressly provides for the recovery of such costs. General Conditions Section 4.04,<sup>5</sup> relating to underground facilities, “Not Shown or Indicated”, provides as follows:

1. If an Underground Facility is uncovered or revealed at or contiguous to the site which was not shown or indicated, or not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing conditions affected thereby or performing any Work in connection therewith (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 6.16.A), identify the owner of such Underground Facility and give written notice to that owner and to Owner and Engineer. Engineer will promptly review the Underground Facility and determine the extent, if any, to which a change is required in the contract documents to reflect and document the consequences of the existence or location of the Underground Facility. During such time Contractor should be responsible for the safety and protection of such Underground Facility.
2. If Engineer concludes that a change in the Contract Documents is required, a Work Change Directive or a Change Order will be issued to reflect and document such consequences. An equitable adjustment shall be made in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, to the extent that they are attributable to the existence or location of any Underground Facility that was not shown or not shown indicated with reasonable accuracy in the Contract Documents and that Contractor did not know of and could not reasonably have been expected to be aware of or to have anticipated. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, Owner or Contractor may make a Claim therefore as provided in Paragraph 10.05.”

---

<sup>4</sup> Jt. Appendix p. 1655.

<sup>5</sup> Jt. Appendix pp. 3537-3538.

General Conditions, Section 4.04. Thus, the contract not only does not preclude J.F. Allen's claims related to underground utilities "not shown or indicated" on the plans or not shown with reasonable accuracy but, in fact, makes specific provision for such claims and *requires* that an equitable adjustment be made. As stated by the Supreme Court of Appeals in this case, "Given that the contract expressly provided for a possible equitable adjustment of the contract price as a result of the existence of an underground facility not shown on the construction plans, the circuit court's conclusion that J.F. Allen's claims were barred by the contract was clearly erroneous." *J. F. Allen Corp. v. Sanitary Board of the City of Charleston*, 237 W. Va. 77, 785 S. E. 2d 627 (2016).

J.F. Allen has also presented evidence of a number of other claims not related to the additional costs of delays and lost efficiency incurred when unmarked or mismarked utilities were encountered and for which J.F. Allen is entitled to recovery under its Contract with The Sanitary Board. These included costs related to an informal oral agreement relating to payment for temporary paving, extra quantities of concrete, and extra restoration costs. Further, a party to a contract has an obligation to refrain from impeding or interfering with performance by the other party. The Sanitary Board had an express duty to give notice to J.F. Allen prior to allowing its own forces or other contractors to interfere with J.F. Allen's work. The contract required the Board to provide written notice of the conflicting work and to compensate J.F. Allen for additional costs and or interruptions that the conflicting work caused. In this case The Sanitary Board and the City of Charleston, of which it is a part, did allow other contractors to delay or interfere with J.F. Allen's work and failed to give the required notice, causing delays and disruptions in J.F. Allen's performance.<sup>6</sup>

Rather than precluding damages for delays caused by The Sanitary Board's conduct, the contract between the parties specifically provides for additional compensation in such cases, as follows:

---

<sup>6</sup> Jt. Appendix pp. 1699-1701.

12.03.B. If Owner, Engineer, or other contractors or utility owners performing other work for Owner as contemplated by Article 7, or anyone for whom Owner is responsible, delays, disrupts, or interferes with their performance or progress of the Work then Contractor shall be entitled to equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both. Contractors' entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractors ability to complete the Work with the Contract Times.

General Conditions Paragraph 12.03.B.<sup>7</sup> So, the various claims asserted by J.F. Allen in its Amended Complaint are not barred by the terms of the Contract but are, in fact, consistent with the types of claims contemplated by the Contract and the law. As such, The Sanitary Board's argument that J.F. Allen accepted the risk of all costs resulting from existing facilities has no more merit now than when previously raised in this case.

**A. 2. THE FORMAL REQUIREMENTS OF THE CONTRACT RELATING TO TIMELY WRITTEN NOTICE AND CLAIMS WERE WAIVED OR ABROGATED BY THE SANITARY BOARD'S CONDUCT DURING PERFORMANCE.**

As acknowledged by representatives of The Sanitary Board during trial testimony, it is commonplace on construction projects that the parties, when dealing with each other during performance of the work, do not strictly adhere to the formal written notice or change order provisions of their contract. In fact, more often than not, changes in the work or contract amount are adjusted informally. Even when formal change orders are executed they typically do not precede the work to which they relate as the terms of most contracts require. Recognizing these commercial realities, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has long held that contract provisions providing for timely written notice of changes or claims can be amended, waived, or abrogated by the conduct of the parties. A constructive change may be made by means other than by written change order, such as by oral direction or by knowledge of or acquiescence in some change made necessary by an unforeseen condition. In one often cited case from the Northern District of West Virginia, *Caldwell & Drake v. Schmulbach*, 175 F. 429 (N. D. W. Va. 1909), the Court found an implied obligation to pay the reasonable cost of alterations or requests to perform extra work. The Court stated:

---

<sup>7</sup> Jt. Appendix p. 3572.

If, therefore, extra work was performed by the contractors here, under express oral contract upon the part of the Owner personally or by and through its agents, the architects, or under such circumstances implying a consent to be liable therefore, such extra work should be allowed for; ....

*Id.* at 437.

In *Ground Breakers, Inc. v. City of Buckhannon*, 188 W. Va. 42, 422 S. E. 2d 519 (1992), the Court combined waiver and subsequent oral modification arguments and found that where unanticipated work became necessary as a result of an unforeseen condition and the need for extra work was known to and discussed by both parties to the contract, and where the contractor testified that the owner orally authorized the additional work, the contractor's claim was not barred by the requirement of a written change order. *Id.* Also, in *W.L. Thaxton Construction Co. v. O.K. Construction Co., Inc.*, 170 W. Va. 657, 295 S. E. 2d 822 (1982), the Supreme Court of Appeals held that the requirement of a written change order could be modified or abrogated by subsequent oral agreement between the parties. *Id.* The Court observed in *W.L. Thaxton Construction*, that there is no more validity in a written contract not to agree orally than there is in an oral contract not to agree in writing and found that whether a written contract had been orally modified was a question of fact for the jury. *Id.*

The Supreme Court of Appeals reaffirmed its adherence to these holdings in this case, expressly acknowledging that documentation of problems encountered during the work by the Owner's on-site representative could constitute written notice. *J. F. Allen Corp. v. Sanitary Bd of the City of Charleston, supra* at 632. The Court further stated, "This Court has recognized that contract provisions providing for timely written notice of changes or claims can be amended, waived, or abrogated by the conduct of the parties." *Id.*

In the appeal in this case from Judge Kaufman's grant of The Sanitary Board's Motion to Dismiss, the Supreme Court of Appeals recognized that actual notice of events on a job-site may be sufficient to satisfy the notice provisions of the parties' contract. The Court recognized that J.F. Allen's complaint alleged that The Sanitary Board had actual notice through its onsite

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